FILED
April 24, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72356-1-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TEREZ LEJUAN BARDWELL,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Andrea Darvas

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Susan F. Wilk Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in denying Mr. Bardwell's <u>Batson</u><sup>1</sup>
   challenge to the State's peremptory strike of African-American Juror No.
   in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment's equal protection guarantee.
- 2. The trial court's use of notepads to conduct peremptory challenges violated the public's and Mr. Bardwell's rights to a public trial.
- 3. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove value, as required to sustain Mr. Bardwell's conviction for possession of stolen property in the second degree.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits racial discrimination in jury selection. Under <u>Batson v.</u>

<u>Kentucky</u>, once the defendant has made a prima facie showing that a challenge was based on race, the burden shifts to the prosecutor to advance a race-neutral reason for the strike. African-Americans are 6.4 times more likely to be incarcerated than whites, and this discrepancy is not explained by crime commission rates. Did the State fail to supply a race-neutral reason at <u>Batson</u>'s second stage for its strike of an African-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 100 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986).

American juror where the primary basis was the fact that the juror's uncle was incarcerated, and two of the State's alternative, demeanor-based challenges were legally insufficient to support a strike? (Assignment of Error 1)

- 2. Did Mr. Bardwell prove purposeful discrimination at <u>Batson</u>'s third stage where (1) the State's principal basis for striking Juror No. 25 was not race-neutral and (2) the State's demeanor-based challenges were not substantiated by the court or counsel? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 3. In the alternative, should this Court adopt a rule requiring a <a href="Batson">Batson</a> objection be sustained where there is a reasonable probability that race was a factor in the exercise of the peremptory? Does application of the rule here mandate reversal? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 4. Did the use of a notepad to conduct peremptory challenges, where the identity of the party that had made the challenge was concealed from the jury and the public at the time of jury selection, violate the right to a public trial? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 5. Where the State prosecutes a person for a crime which requires it to prove property had a value exceeding a specific amount, the State must present evidence of the items' fair market value in the area at the time the crime was committed. "Market value" is an objective standard, and means "the price which a well-informed buyer would pay to a well-

informed seller, where neither is obliged to enter into the transaction." The State prosecuted Mr. Bardwell for possession of stolen property in the second degree. For some stolen items, the State presented no evidence of value. For others, the State relied on a child's estimate of the retail price paid for the items, without showing when the items were bought, or accounting for any depreciation in the value of the items. Did the State fail to present sufficient evidence that Mr. Bardwell possessed stolen property exceeding \$750 in value? (Assignment of Error 3)

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Substantive facts.

On the afternoon of October 14, 2013, a Seattle police officer attempted to effect a traffic stop of a Cadillac because the car did not have a front license plate. Instead of stopping, the Cadillac drove through a red light and collided with several cars. RP 303-07.<sup>2</sup> Appellant Terez Bardwell and a young woman jumped out of the driver's side of the car and Mr. Bardwell ran away. RP 311-12, 336. Mr. Bardwell was ultimately found hiding in the attic of a nearby business and arrested. RP 467-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is contained in multiple consecutively paginated volumes and is referenced as "RP" followed by page number. Jury selection was transcribed separately and is referenced as "RP (Voir Dire)" followed by page number.

Near where Mr. Bardwell was found was a red bag. RP 470. In the bag was cash, a purple wallet, a broken wooden drawer containing some jewelry, and some mail addressed to 9324 Sturtevant Ave. S., a few minutes' drive from the accident scene. RP 470, 554-55. The residence at 9324 Sturtevant Ave. S. had been burglarized earlier that day. RP 674-75, 702-03.

When Mr. Bardwell was searched, officers found \$435.25 in cash in his front pants pocket. RP 564. A search of the Cadillac pursuant to a warrant revealed an iPad, a briefcase, additional cash, and a gun. RP 874-86. The gun was found on the driver's side front floorboard of the car. RP 903-04.

Mr. Bardwell was prosecuted by amended information for unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, residential burglary, attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, and possession of stolen property in the second degree. CP 21-23. A jury trial was held before the Honorable Andrea Darvas.

#### 2. <u>Jury selection</u>.

Jury selection took nearly two days. The court utilized a method for the parties' peremptory challenges, without objection from either side, in which for each round of strikes, both the prosecutor and defense counsel indicated which juror they intended to strike on a notepad. RP

125; Supp. CP \_\_\_, Sub No. 55. The judge then excused both jurors on the record, without stating which party had made the strike. RP (Voir Dire) 177-79, 186-87. The handwritten notes of the peremptory challenges were filed in the court file. Supp. CP \_\_\_, Sub No. 55.

On the third round of strikes, the defense objected to the State's strike of Juror No. 25 under Batson.

The State's claimed basis for the strike was the juror's response to one of the general questions from the court, which preceded both rounds of voir dire conducted by the parties. The questions and answers were as follows:

The Court: And then is there anyone here who has had the experience that you or someone close to you, a family member or close friend, has been accused of a crime? Juror No. 25? Yes ma'am?

The Juror: I have an uncle that's in jail.

The Court: And is he awaiting trial or was he convicted of something?

The Juror: Convicted.

The Court: What was he convicted of?

The Juror: Assault.

The Court: Okay, and was that recent?

The Juror: Six years.

The Court: Okay. Anything about that experience that would influence your ability to be a fair or impartial juror in this case?

The Juror: No.

RP (Voir Dire) 106.

Three other jurors, Jurors No. 4, 5, and 44 also answered the question affirmatively. RP (Voir Dire) 106-07. Juror No. 4 stated that his son had served time in prison as a minor for car theft. <u>Id</u>. Juror No. 5 said that a family member had been accused of "breaking a domestic violence order during a divorce" but that "[n]othing ever came of it." <u>Id</u>. at 107. And Juror No. 44 indicated that she had a family member who, seven or eight years earlier, had been prosecuted as an adult for a robbery he had committed as a juvenile, for which he had to pay a fine and serve time in jail. <u>Id</u>. at 107-08.

In its first round of questioning, the State did not follow up on the court's questions to Juror No. 25 regarding her uncle or question her at all regarding other topics. In its second round of questioning, the prosecutor asked, "Does anybody think that reasonable doubt is a good standard or we should have one perhaps that's lesser or one that's greater?" RP (Voir Dire) 163. Juror 25 responded, "I don't know how you really get it greater, you know, without somebody necessarily they've done it [sic]."

6

RP (Voir Dire) 164. She stated, "It's probably better – the best that we have right now." <u>Id</u>.

When the State exercised a peremptory strike against Juror No. 25, Mr. Bardwell's counsel pointed out the lack of a legitimate basis for the strike, stating, "I saw no reason that she gave any answers to any questions to make her less desirable to the prosecuting attorney." <u>Id.</u> at 180. He noted the absence of "follow-up to the initial question of her relative being in prison, if that impacted her view of the proceedings here," and argued, "[s]o I don't think there's been a showing from the paucity of questions to the prospective juror that the challenge is for anything other than her race." Id. at 181-82.

In response, the prosecutor advanced two ostensible reasons for the strike. First, he averred that he also intended to strike another African-American juror, No. 44. <u>Id</u>. at 182-83. He said that he intended to strike the jurors because they both responded affirmatively to the question whether they had relatives in prison. <u>Id</u>. He also claimed that "both of them, when they answered that question, based on their body language and expression, seemed to have a lot of concern about that." <u>Id</u>. at 183.

Then, although he had not raised this concern to the court or counsel at any time during the lengthy two-day voir dire process, he asserted,

The other reason that the State is exercising the challenge is Juror No. 25, as the Court can see from the layout of the Court, sits more or less directly in my line of sight. There's been at least two occasions where I believe she's been sleeping, and I don't want her on the jury if she's been falling asleep in Court. That's the other reason for the peremptory challenge.

Id.

The court did not witness what the prosecutor asserted he saw and said, "I have to admit, I have to rely on [the prosecutor's] representations as to Juror No. 25 falling asleep." RP 183. Mr. Bardwell's defense counsel also did not see what the prosecutor claimed he observed. RP 184.

The court noted that because of the distance between the bench and the jurors, "I'm not sure I would have noticed it unless, you know, her head sagged or she started snoring or something like that[.]" Id. The court stated that it had "no reason to doubt" the prosecutor's representation. Id. The court further noted that "his statement about ... her body language and her level of concern about a relative who's in prison, that is a legitimate concern the State would have ... regardless of Juror No. 25's ethnicity or race or anything like that." Id. The court accordingly overruled Mr. Bardwell's Batson objection and permitted the peremptory strike. Id.

#### 3. Jury verdict.

The jury convicted Mr. Bardwell of all counts as charged. CP 62-65. Mr. Bardwell appeals. CP 123.

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. The State's racially discriminatory strike of African-American juror No. 25 violated the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee of equal protection as stated in *Batson v. Kentucky*.

Under <u>Batson</u> and its progeny, the exclusion of otherwise qualified and unbiased jurors from a venire solely because of their race violates federal constitutional guarantees of equal protection. <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 86-87; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. An improper race-based challenge of a potential juror compromises the guarantee of trial by impartial jury, violates the juror's equal protection rights under the Fourteenth Amendment, and is harmful to the fundamental values of our judicial system and society as a whole. <u>Miller-El v. Dretke</u>, 545 U.S. 231, 237-38, 241, 125 S.Ct. 1317, 162 L.Ed.2d 196 (2005); <u>State v. Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d 34, 50, 309 P.3d 326 (2013).

The harm from discriminatory jury selection extends beyond that inflicted on the defendant and the excluded juror to touch the entire community. Selection procedures that purposefully exclude black persons from juries undermine public confidence in the fairness of our system of justice.

Batson, 476 U.S. at 87; see also Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d at 50 ("If we

allow the systematic removal of minority jurors, we create a badge of inferiority, cheapening the value of the jury verdict.").

A claim of purposeful discrimination in jury selection requires the trial court to engage in three steps. First, the defendant must make a prima facie showing "that the totality of the relevant facts gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose." <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 93-94. Second, once the defendant has made a prima facie case, the "burden shifts to the State to explain adequately the racial exclusion" by offering permissible race-neutral justifications for the strike. <u>Id</u>. at 94. Third, "[i]f a race-neutral explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide . . . whether the opponent of the strike has proved purposeful racial discrimination." <u>Purkett v. Elem</u>, 514 U.S. 765, 767, 131 L.Ed.2d 834, 115 S.Ct. 1769 (1995) (per curiam).

In Washington, a <u>Batson</u> challenge is reviewed for clear error.

<u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 41. "Clear error exists when the court is left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." <u>Id</u>.

a. The State failed to proffer race-neutral reasons for the strike at *Batson*'s second stage.

As noted, at <u>Batson</u>'s second stage, once the defendant has made a prima facie showing of discrimination in jury selection, the State has the "burden of stating a racially neutral explanation for their own actions."

Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 252. When race is at issue, "a prosecutor simply has got to state his reasons as best he can and stand or fall on the plausibility of the reasons he gives." Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 252.

The first reason for the strike given by the prosecutor—the juror's affirmative response to the question whether someone close to her had been accused of a crime—is not race-neutral on its face. The prosecutor's second claimed basis—the prosecutor's alleged observations of the jury's "body language" and "concern" when she answered the question—is legally insufficient to support a strike. This Court should conclude that the State failed to meet its burden at <u>Batson</u>'s second stage.

i. The juror's affirmative answer to the question whether someone close to her had been accused of a crime was not race-neutral on its face.

Minority racial and ethnic groups are disproportionately represented in Washington State's court, jail, and prison populations.

Task Force on Race and the Criminal Justice System, Preliminary Report on Race and Washington's Criminal Justice System (March 2011) at 1 (hereafter "Preliminary Report on Race"). Studies have shown that, even after controlling for pertinent factors, Blacks are more likely than Whites

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Available at <a href="http://www.law.washington.edu/About/RaceTaskForce/preliminary\_report\_race\_criminal\_justice\_030111.pdf">http://www.law.washington.edu/About/RaceTaskForce/preliminary\_report\_race\_criminal\_justice\_030111.pdf</a>, last visited April 21, 2015.

to be charged with crimes, denied bail, and imprisoned. <u>Id</u>. at 7. In the United States in 2005, Blacks were incarcerated at 5.6 times the rate of Whites. <u>Id</u>. at 9.

In Washington, however, the incarceration rate exceeds the national average. <u>Id</u>. at 10. In 2005 in Washington, Blacks were incarcerated at 6.4 times the rate of Whites. <u>Id</u>. According to statistics compiled in 2009, 36% of Black imprisonment in Washington could not be accounted for by arrest rates. <u>Id</u>. at 8.<sup>4</sup>

This is not a new problem. In 1980, Washington "led the nation in its disproportionate imprisonment of blacks." <u>Id</u>. at 6. The historic data support the conclusion that racial inequity and bias are ingrained in Washington's criminal justice system.

In evaluating the race neutrality of an attorney's explanation, "a court must determine whether, assuming the proffered reasons for the peremptory challenges are true, the challenges violate the Equal Protection Clause as a matter of law." Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 359, 111 S. Ct. 1859, 114 L. Ed. 2d 395 (1991). "A facially race-neutral reason is one that is not based on race at all." Turnbull v. State, 959 So.2d 275,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Task Force concludes that arrest rates are a "poor proxy" for crime commission, and that "'[s]tudies that treat arrests as a measure of crime commission will likely overstate the rate of crime commission by Blacks and therefore underestimate racial disparity in criminal justice processing." Preliminary Report on Race at 12.

277 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006), <u>as modified on denial of reh'g</u> (July 18, 2007). Where "a discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutor's explanation", then the explanation is not race-neutral. <u>United States v. Bishop</u>, 959 F.2d 820, 827 (9th Cir. 1992) <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>United States v. Nevils</u>, 598 F.3d 1158 (9th Cir. 2010).

The prosecutor's primary reason for the peremptory strike was Juror No. 25's response to "that question of having a relative or friend who's in prison serving time[.]" RP (Voir Dire) 183. As noted, Blacks are disproportionately likely to be incarcerated in Washington as compared to Whites. And Washington incarcerates Blacks at a higher and more disproportionate rate than the rest of the country as a whole. As a matter of pure statistical likelihood, therefore, a black juror in Washington is more likely than a white juror in Washington to know someone who has been charged with or convicted of a crime. The stated reason for the strike was inherently discriminatory. Compare Bishop, 959 F.2d at 825-26 (holding prosecutor's assertion that juror lived in low-income, predominantly black neighborhood, and therefore was likely to believe that police "pick at black people" was not race neutral; and noting, "where residence is utilized as a surrogate for racial stereotypes-as, for instance, a short hand for insensitivity to violence-its invocation runs afoul of the guarantees of equal protection"); Buck v. Com., 432 S.E.2d 180, 186 (Va.

App. 1993) ("The reason given by the prosecutor, that an African-American who lived near (not in, but near) a city with a "drug problem" would be sympathetic to narcotic use, is both irrational and a convenient means by which to mask racial bias"), aff'd, 247 Va. 449, 443 S.E.2d 414 (1994); see also Ridley v. State, 510 S.E.2d 113, 116 (Ga. App. 1998) (prosecutor's strike not race neutral where based on fact that black jurors had the same last names as persons prosecuted by that office).

ii. The prosecutor's demeanor-based reasons for the strike were legally insufficient.

The prosecutor attempted to supplement his facially-invalid basis for the strike with two demeanor-based reasons. The prosecutor claimed that Juror No. 25's "body language and expression" when she answered the question about whether someone close to her or a family member had been charged or convicted of a crime suggested that she "[had] a lot of concern about that." RP (Voir Dire) 183. The prosecutor also claimed that he observed the juror sleeping during voir dire. <u>Id</u>.

The prosecutor's assertion regarding the jurors' "body language and expression" is legally insufficient. The prosecutor did not describe specific aspects of Juror No. 25's body language. The prosecutor did not state what it was about Juror No. 25's "expression" that led him to believe the juror had "a lot of concern" about her uncle's incarceration. And the

prosecutor did not connect the juror's alleged "concern" to Mr. Bardwell's trial, or even to jury service generally.

The prosecutor "must articulate a neutral explanation related to the particular case to be tried." <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 98. The explanation must be "clear and reasonably specific." <u>Id</u>. at 98 n. 20. Explanations based on "conduct and demeanor" should be given "close scrutiny" because "such perceptions may easily be used as a pretext for discrimination." <u>Mack v. Anderson</u>, 861 N.E.2d 280, 297 (Ill. App. 2006). "[M]erely stating that a juror nonverbally "reacted" is insufficient. <u>Davis v. Fisk Elec. Co.</u>, 268 S.W.3d 508, 519 (Tex. 2008); <u>compare McClain v Prunty</u>, 217 F.3d 1209, 1223 (9th Cir. 2000) (finding a demeanor-based challenge pretextual where "the prosecutor did not explain the significance of [the juror's body language] or otherwise indicate how that gesture evidenced bias"); <u>Bishop</u>, 959 F.2d at 925 (prosecutor's observations about juror were not raceneutral where prosecutor did not link the characteristic to the juror's possible approach to the specific trial).

The prosecutor's assertion that he believed Juror No. 25 was sleeping should be discounted given the failure of the prosecutor's other two stated reasons to supply a basis for the strike. At stage two of the analysis, however, the justification does not even need to be "minimally persuasive," so long as it is neutral. See Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. at 768

(prosecutor's justifications, even if "implausible or fantastic", "silly or superstitious", survive step two if they are facially neutral). Even if the Court concludes this justification survives step two, as argued below, it fails at step three.

# b. Mr. Bardwell proved purposeful discrimination at *Batson*'s third stage.

If the court determines that the prosecutor has supplied an adequate race-neutral reason for a peremptory strike at <u>Batson</u>'s second stage, the court must evaluate whether, despite the prosecutor's proffered justification, the defendant has nonetheless met his burden of showing "purposeful discrimination." <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 98. At <u>Batson</u>'s third stage, a judge must undertake "a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available." <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 93. The court evaluates the "totality of the relevant facts" to decide "whether counsel's race-neutral explanation for a peremptory challenge should be believed." <u>Ali v. Hickman</u>, 584 F.3d 1174, 1180 (9th Cir. 2009).

i. A comparative juror analysis shows the strike was a pretext for racial discrimination.

Discriminatory intent may be found where a comparative juror analysis shows that the prosecutor treated similarly-situated white jurors

differently from the struck juror.<sup>5</sup> Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 241. Here, a comparative juror analysis establishes that the prosecutor's reasons were a pretext for race discrimination.

The prosecutor chose not to strike Juror No. 5, who also responded affirmatively to the question whether a family member or friend had been accused of a crime. RP (Voir Dire) 107.6 The State did not strike Jurors No. 2 or No. 3, both of whom said they were disappointed by the police as a result of recent negative media coverage of the Seattle Police Department. Id. at 159-60. The State did not strike Juror No. 2 or Juror No. 19, both of whom voiced frustration with other potential jurors' inability to presume Mr. Bardwell innocent of the charges. Id. at 137-38. The State did not strike Juror No. 16, even though the juror expressed disagreement with other jurors who would have been likely to believe Mr. Bardwell was guilty because he was arrested. Id. at 142. The State did not strike Juror No. 33, even though she graphically described feeling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A court should engage in a comparative juror analysis even where, as here, there is no identically-situated white juror. "A *per se* rule that a defendant cannot win a <u>Batson</u> claim unless there is an exactly identical white juror would leave <u>Batson</u> inoperable; potential jurors are not products of a set of cookie cutters." <u>Miller-El</u>, 545 U.S. at 247 n. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Juror No. 5 also said, in response to a question from defense counsel, "if I commit a crime, remind me not to do it in King County because there's too many people that I wouldn't want on my jury because they couldn't be impartial." RP 138.

"disconcert[ed]" and "overwhelm[ed]" by her experience testifying as a witness. <u>Id</u>. at 149-50. The State did not strike her even though she said she was "frustrated" because the "person representing the State ... promised protection and then it was, like, open fire." <u>Id</u>. at 150.

ii. The prosecutor's failure to question Juror No. 25 about his claimed concerns supports an inference of discriminatory intent.

The court's question about friends or family members accused of crimes came before the parties began voir dire. But the State did not ask Juror No. 25 about her answer in either of the two complete rounds of voir dire it conducted. The prosecutor did not follow up with the juror to determine the source of the "concern" he professed he observed. The prosecutor did not try to find out whether the juror's "body language and expression" were because she felt sympathy towards Mr. Bardwell, sympathy towards the State, or, as is most likely, embarrassment about having to talk about her uncle's criminality in a public setting. He did not try to find out if she believed her uncle had been treated fairly by the criminal justice system.

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