NO. 72356-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TEREZ LEJUAN BARDWE~L,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE ANDREA DARVAS

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse

516 Third Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104

(206) 296-9000

July 14, 2015

72356-1          72356-1

empri
File Date Empty

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE DEFENDANT'S BATSON ARGUMENT IS NOT
SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS

The defendant asks this Court to draw the conclusion that

when the prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge as to a

single African-American prospective juror, the reasons given by the

prosecutor were merely a ruse or pretext to hide the prosecutor's

purposeful racial discrimination. Under the facts of this case, this

argument defies logic. The prosecutor struck a single African-

American prospective juror while allowing two other African-

American prospective jurors to sit on the case. It defies logic to

presume that the reasons given to strike the one juror were pretexts

for purposeful racial discrimination where the prosecutor did not

strike two other African-American jurors. Thus, the defendant

cannot show that the trial court's rejection of his Batson claim was

"clearly erroneous."

a. Relevant Facts

The trial court brought in a 50 juror venire, of which 18 were

excused by the court for hardship or cause. RP (voir dire) 113-15,

1507-9 Bardwell COA



156-58; RP 223-24, 228. The court intended to seat 14 jurors.

After closing arguments, two jurors would be randomly chosen as

alternates. RP 125-29. Thus, the court gave each party eight

peremptory challenges. Id.

After the court excused the 18 jurors for hardship or for

cause, of the remaining 32 jurors, there were at least four jurors

identified as African-American.3 RP (voir dire) 182-83.4 Of the four,

the State used a peremptory challenge to a single African-American

juror, juror number 25. RP (voir dire) 179-86. She was the subject

of a Batson challenge, with the trial court rejecting the defendant's

claim of purposeful racial discrimination. RP (voir dire) 183-84.

The State used only six of its allotted eight peremptory

challenges. CP 129-30. Two African-American jurors, jurors 30

and 35, actually sat on the jury and deliberated to a verdict.

3 The record does not reflect the racial makeup of the remaining jury venire

4 The original verbatim report of proceedings mistakenly listed two of the jurors
(jurors 30 and 35) with the same juror number (juror 30) (see RP (voir dire) 182),
thus making it appear there were only three African-American prospective jurors
on the venire. The parties listened to the CD of the proceedings, confirmed that
there was a scrivener's error in the original report of proceedings, and entered
into a stipulation to correct the mistake. Although filed with the trial court, the
stipulation is not yet on ECR, thus, a copy of the stipulation is attached. CP _
sub #

-5-
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RP (voir dire) 189.5 A fourth African-American juror, juror 44, was

so far down the line in the venire that he did not have the

opportunity to sit on the jury. RP (voir dire) 189.

During the initial stages of voir dire, when the judge was

asking general questions of the venire, the defendant requested

that the judge ask two additional questions. RP (voir dire) 68-69.

First, the judge asked if anyone personally, or a close friend or

family member, had been a witness to a crime. RP (voir dire) 104.

Second, the judge asked if anyone personally, or a close friend or

family member, had been accused of a crime. RP (voir dire) 106.

Juror 25 responded that her uncle was in jail after having been

convicted of assault six years prior. Id. Asked if this would

influence her ability to be fair, she said that it would not. Id.

Later, when asked if she thought that the beyond a

reasonable doubt standard was good, or if there should be a lesser

or greater standard, juror 25 responded, "I don't know how you

really get it greater, you know, without somebody necessarily

they've done it...lt's probably better -- the best that we have right

5 Two of the 14 jurors selected did not participate in deliberations. During the
course of trial, the court excused juror number 6 for cause; RP 988. Juror 34,
seated in the jury box as juror number 10, was chosen as the alternate. RP (voir
dire) 186; RP 1064.

S:~
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now." Id, at 164-65. Juror 25 did not volunteer an answer to any

other questions during voir dire.

At the end of voir dire, when the State indicated that it was

exercising a peremptory challenge as to juror 25, defense counsel

said he was raising a Batson challenge. Id. at 179. The court

asked defense counsel the basis for its challenge, noting that

caselaw required that the party raising a Batson challenge first

make a prima facie showing of purposeful discrimination. Id. at

180. Defense counsel did not point to any evidence showing

purposeful racial discrimination, and he did not raise any of the

arguments that he now raises on appeal. Id. at 180-82. Instead,

defense counsel pointed out that the juror was African-American

and so was his client, and thus, according to defense counsel, the

burden was on the State to show that the two State prosecutors

trying the case did not act with purposeful racial discrimination. Id.

at 180.

The court responded that "you have to do a little more than

simply point out that she's an African-American woman." Id.

Defense counsel then opined that he saw no reason why juror 25

would not be just as good a juror as any other juror, and therefore;

-7-
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counsel surmised, the State's peremptory challenge must have

been based on racial discrimination. Id. at 181-82.

The prosecutor provided a threefold response. First, the

prosecutor correctly stated that in exercising a peremptory

challenge a party does not need to state a reason for the

challenge,6 and thus, whether the opposing party thinks the

particular juror would be a good or bad juror is of no relevance. Id.

at 182. Second, .the prosecutor correctly noted that the first step of

a Batson challenge requires the showing of a prima facie case of

purposeful racial discrimination, arequirement that the defendant

failed to meet. Id. And third, the prosecutor stated that regardless

of the fact that no prima facie showing had been made, he would

put his reasons for excusing juror 25 on the record. Id.

6 In Washington, the right to exercise a peremptory challenge free from judicial
control is codified by statute. A peremptory challenge is defined as "an objection
to a juror for which no reason need be given, but upon which the court shall
gxclude_the }urnr" RGW 4.44.14Q;_see alsa_RCW 4.44.21.0.

Courts recognize that:

peremptory challenges are granted to parties so that they may remove
jurors that parties believe should not serve. Ourjury selection process
recognizes that bias and partiality may not be so evident that these
qualities can readily be demonstrated. For that reason, a party seeking
to exercise a peremptory challenge is not required to give a reason for its
use and may exercise the challenge without court approval.

State v. Vreen, 99 Wn. App. 662, 994 P.2d 905 (2000) (citing 14 Orland &
Tegland, Washington Practice § 202 at 417 (4th ed. 1986)), aff"d, 143 Wn.2d 923
(2001).

-8-
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The prosecutor stated that he had two primary reasons for

exercising a peremptory challenge as to juror 25. First, juror 25

had a relative who was currently serving time in prison and, based

on her body language and expressions, when responding to this

subject, she seemed to possess a great deal of concern about this.

Id. at 183. Second, the prosecutor noted that with the configuration

of the courtroom, juror 25 sat directly in his line of sight, and that

there had been at least two occasions where he noticed that juror

25 appeared to be sleeping. Id, at 183.

Although the judge stated that because she was so far away

from juror 25 that she would not have noticed if juror 25 was

sleeping unless she started snoring or her head sagged down, she

accepted the prosecutor's representations as true. Id. at 184. The

court then held that the prosecutor's reasons were legitimate

concerns and that the defendant had failed to prove that the

prosecutor was acting in a purposeful racially discriminatory

manner. Id.

b. The Batson Standard

In Batson v. Kentucky, the Supreme Court addressed the

ability and limitations of the trial court in interjecting itself into the

jury selection process where there is an allegation of purposeful

~'~
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racial discrimination. The Court recognized that the peremptory

challenge system is a necessary and important part of trial by jury,

and that peremptory challenges were historically exercised by the

parties free from any judicial control and interference. Batson v.

Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 91 n.15, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69

(1986) (citing Swain v. Arizona, 380 U.S. 202, 219, 85 S. Ct. 824,

13 L. Ed. 2d 759 (1965)). However, where there is evidence of

purposeful discrimination in the jury selection process, the Court

recognized that under the Equal Protection Clause, a trial court

must intervene. Id. The Court announced athree-part test that

sought to balance the "historical privilege of peremptory challenge

free of judicial control," with the Equal Protection Clause that

forbids either party from "challeng[ing] potential jurors solely on

account of their race.." Batson, at 89, 91. The Court started with

the acknowledgement that "[a]s in any equal protection case, the

burden is, of course, on the defendant who alleges discriminatory

selection of the venire to prove the existence of purposeful

discrimination."$ Batson, at 93.

8 Batson also applies to civil cases and to a criminal defendant's use of
peremptory challenges. See Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete Co., 500 U.S. 614,
111 S. Ct. 2077, 114 L. Ed. 2d 660 (1991); Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42,
112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992); J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B., 511
U.S. 127, 114 S. Ct. 1419, 128 L. Ed. 2d 89 (1994).

-10-
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First, a party raising such a challenge must make a prima

facie showing of purposeful discrimination. Id. at 96. To make

such a showing, a party must provide evidence that raises an

"inference" that a peremptory challenge was used to exclude a

venire member on account of the member's race. Id. An inference,

the Court would later note, "is generally understood to be a

conclusion reached by considering other facts and deducing a

logical consequence from them." Johnson v. California, 545 U.S.

162, 168 n.4, 125 S. Ct. 2410, 162 L. Ed. 2d 129 (2005) (citing

Black's Law Dictionary 781 (7t" ed. 1999)). An inference is not

simply an allegation or a guess. Id.

Second, if and only if a party raises an inference of

purposeful discrimination, then the burden shifts to the opposing

party to provide grace-neutral explanation for challenging the

venire member. Batson, at 97. The reasons given need not rise to

the level justifying the exercise of a challenge for cause. Id.

Third, the trial court must then determine whether the

challenging party has established purposeful racial discrimination,

that the exercise of the peremptory challenge was based on the

juror's race. Id. at 98.

-11-
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c. The Defendant Bears The Burden Of
Proving That The Trial Court's Ruling Was
Clearly Erroneous

In this case, while the trial court never found that the

defendant met his burden of making a prima facie showing of

purposeful discrimination, the prosecutor offered race-neutral

reasons on his own accord, thus, the only issue necessary for this

Court to decide pertains to step number three, the trial court's

finding that the defendant failed to prove purposeful racial

discrimination. See State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903

P.2d 960 (1995) (if the prosecutor has offered grace-neutral

explanation and the trial court has ruled on the question of racial

motivation, the preliminary prima facie case is unnecessary) (citing

Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 359, 111 S. Ct. 1859, 114

L. Ed. 2d 395 (1991)).

Atrial court's decision is a factual determination based in

part on the answers provided by the juror and on the assessment of

the demeanor and credibility of the jurors and of the attorney.

Batson, at 98 n.21; Hernandez, 500 U.S. at 365. The defendant

carries the burden of proving the existence of purposeful

discrimination. Batson, at 93. The determination of the trial judge

-12-
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is "accorded great deference on appeal," and will be upheld unless

proven "clearly erroneous." Hernandez, at 364.

d. The Defendant's Argument

The defendant asks this Court to draw a conclusive

presumption that because other jurors may have had similar

backgrounds as juror 25, and those jurors were not challenged, all

the reasons provided by the prosecutor in exercising a peremptory

challenge to juror 25 must be discounted because the unavoidable